
TOWN OF CLINTON  

PLANNING BOARD MEETING 

FINAL MINUTES 

September 2, 2008 

 1 

 

MEMBERS PRESENT    MEMBERS ABSENT 
 

Mike McCormack, Chairman    Tresa Veitia                         

Gerald Dolan       Tracie Ruzicka 

Robert Marrapodi      

Art DePasqua      ALSO PRESENT 

Eliot Werner       

 

Arlene Campbell, Secretary 
 
 
 
Chairman McCormack opened the meeting at 7:33 p.m.  
 
 
 
VARIANCE RECOMMENDATIONS: 

 

None 

 

PUBLIC HEARING 

 

Neumann-Heist Site Plan & Special Use Permit – property located at 256 E. 

Meadowbrook Lane, Tax Grid No. 6367-00-944370-00. 

 

 The applicants wish to convert the existing garage into a guest house. 

 

Mr. Werner motioned to open the public hearing.  Seconded by Mr. DePasqua, All Aye, 

Motion carried, 5-0. 

 

Mr. Heist explained their proposal. This is an existing garage with a studio above it and 

they just simply want to convert this garage into a guest house. He added that they want 

to put a bathroom and kitchen in it without changing the size of the building.  

 

Chairman McCormack opened the questions to the public.  

 

Edward Huddock, 9 Schoolhouse Road stated that he doesn’t have a problem with this 

application. He wanted to know what makes this dwelling a guest house instead of an 

apartment. He asked the board what’s the difference between a guest house and an 

apartment. He also asked the board for the total number of acreage of this parcel and the 

number of acreage that the applicant is allowed to subdivide. He indicated their 

application in the past about putting a temporary trailer for her 75 year old mother on 

their 5 acre property and noted that the application got denied.  

 

Mr. McCormack responded that the applicant probably requested for an acreage variance 

since they only have 5 acres.  The chairman explained that this application is not asking 

for a lot variance.  This is about converting an existing garage into a guest house.  



TOWN OF CLINTON  

PLANNING BOARD MEETING 

FINAL MINUTES 

September 2, 2008 

 2 

 

Mr. Huddock asked the chairman for the total number of acreage of this property and if 

the applicant is going to subdivide the parcel.  

 

The chairman responded that this property is consists of 15 acres and the applicant is not 

asking to subdivide. He explained the process to Mr. Huddock.  You need to double the 

acreage of your property in order to put another dwelling, meet the zoning regulations 

and go to an approval process.   

 

Ms. Huddock who used to own a property in School House Road noted that they do not 

have any objection for as long as the applicants are not re-routing the water from the 

brook.  She stated that somebody re-routed the water in the past and it diverted into the 

underground stream of their property.  She indicated that this stream is completely dried 

out now.  

 

Mr. DePasqua moved to close the public hearing. Seconded by Mr. Marrapodi, All aye, 

motion carried, 5-0. 

 

The board agreed to do the SEQRA form. 

 

Mr. Werner moved that the Town of Clinton Planning Board issue a Negative 

Declaration pursuant to the requirements of the State Environmental Quality Review Act 

(6 NYCRR 617.6 (g)) in the matter of Michael Neumann and John B. Heist III Site Plan 

and Special Permit Application, located at 256 East Meadowbrook Lane tax grid 

#132400-6367-00-944370-00  
 

Seconded by Mr. DePasqua. Discussion. All in favor, motion carried, 5-0. 

 

The board discussed the Site Plan.  Mr. Werner indicated that the site plan got everything 

that it needed except for a simple technicality. The official name of Ridgeline Scenic & 

Historic Protection Overlay District was written as Scenic Ridgeline District. Mr. 

Marrapodi commented that this technicality has really no bearing on this application 

since this is a residential property. The rest of the board members agreed. 

 

The board passed a resolution about the Site Plan Application.  

 

Mr. Werner motioned that the Town of Clinton Planning Board grants approval of a Site 

Plan to Michael Neumann and John B. Heist III for the purpose of establishing an 

accessory apartment on a 15.43-acre site located at 256 East Meadowbrook Lane, which 

is in an AR-3 Zoning District in the Town of Clinton, tax grid #132400-6367-00-

944370-00. 

 

WHEREAS: 

 



TOWN OF CLINTON  

PLANNING BOARD MEETING 

FINAL MINUTES 

September 2, 2008 

 3 

1) The applicant wishes to construct an accessory dwelling unit on the property as shown 

on the drawings created by Michael Neumann Architecture, New York State Registered 

Architect #024977 dated 7-22-08 and revised 8-13-08. 

 

2) The property is located in the Ridgeline, Scenic, and Historic Protection Overlay 

district.  The applicant has completed a Long Form EAF in accordance with Section 3.8 

of the Town of Clinton Zoning Law. 

 

3) The property is located within 500 feet of an Ag District.  The applicant has submitted 

an Agricultural Data Statement. 

 

4) On 6-26-08 the Zoning Board of Appeals granted area variances from Section 5.3.D.1 

of the Town of Clinton Zoning Law “to allow for the placement of an accessory dwelling 

unit on record within the minimum front yard setback requirement,” with the stipulations 

that the existing shrubs between the structure and the road be maintained and the Sewage 

Disposal System be updated to comply with current Health Department codes to accept 

the additional volume from the guest dwelling. 

 

5) The Town of Clinton Planning Board declared itself Lead Agency on 8-5-08 for this 

unlisted, uncoordinated action.  Appropriate referrals to the interested agencies have been 

made. 

 

6) In accordance with Section 7.9.B.3 of the Town of Clinton Zoning Law, a Public 

Hearing was held on 9-2-08. 

 

7) A SEQRA review of this unlisted, uncoordinated action (and the public hearing held 

on 9-2-08) has resulted in a negative declaration being prepared and declared in 

accordance with the New York State Environmental Quality Review Act on 9-2-08. 

 

8) This application conforms with the provisions of Section 7.9 of the Town of Clinton 

Zoning Law pertaining to “Site Plans.” 

 

NOW THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, the Town of Clinton Planning Board grants 

conditional approval of the requested Site Plan when the following condition is met: 

 

a) All appropriate fees have been paid.  

 

Seconded by Mr. Marrapodi.  

 

Discussion. Ms. Campbell noted that the publication fee for this public hearing is not yet 

settled. The board agreed to put this fee as a condition.  

 

All aye, motion carried, 5-0. 

 



TOWN OF CLINTON  

PLANNING BOARD MEETING 

FINAL MINUTES 

September 2, 2008 

 4 

After all the reviews have been made, the board passed a resolution for the Special Permit 

Application. 

 

 

 

 

Mr. Werner motioned that the Town of Clinton Planning Board grants conditional 

approval of a Special Permit to Michael Neumann and John B. Heist III for the purpose 

of establishing an accessory apartment on a 15.43-acre site located at 256 East 

Meadowbrook Lane, which is in an AR-3 Zoning District in the Town of Clinton, tax 

grid #132400-6367-00-944370-00. 

 

WHEREAS: 

 

1) The applicant wishes to construct an accessory dwelling unit on the property as shown 

on the drawings created by Michael Neumann Architecture, New York State Registered 

Architect #024977 dated 7-22-08 and revised 8-13-08. 

 

2) The property is located in the Ridgeline, Scenic, and Historic Protection Overlay 

district.  The applicant has completed a Long Form EAF in accordance with Section 3.8 

of the Town of Clinton Zoning Law. 

 

3) The property is located within 500 feet of a working farm in an Ag District.  The 

applicant has submitted an Agricultural Data Statement. 

 

4) On 6-26-08 the Zoning Board of Appeals granted area variances from Section 5.3. D.1 

of the Town of Clinton Zoning Law “to allow for the placement of an accessory dwelling 

unit on record within the minimum front yard setback requirement.,” with the stipulations 

that the existing shrubs between the structure and the road be maintained and the Sewage 

Disposal System be updated to comply with current Health Department codes to accept 

the additional volume from the guest dwelling. 

 

5) The Town of Clinton Planning Board declared itself Lead Agency on 8-5-08 for this 

unlisted, uncoordinated action.  Appropriate referrals to the interested agencies have been 

made. 

 

6) In accordance with Section 7.9.B.3 of the Town of Clinton Zoning Law, a Public 

Hearing was held on 9-2-08. 

 

7) A SEQRA review of this unlisted, uncoordinated action (and the public hearing held 

on 9-2-08) has resulted in a negative declaration being prepared and declared in 

accordance with the New York State Environmental Quality Review Act on 9-2-08. 

 

8) This application conforms with the provisions of Section 5.3 of the Town of Clinton 

Zoning Law pertaining to “Accessory Dwelling Units.” 



TOWN OF CLINTON  

PLANNING BOARD MEETING 

FINAL MINUTES 

September 2, 2008 

 5 

 

9) Conditional site plan approval was granted by the Planning Board on 9-2-08. 

 

Now, therefore, be it resolved, the Town of Clinton Planning Board grants approval of 

the requested Special Permit when the following conditions are met: 

 

a) Submission of an acceptable final site plan for this action that has been signed by the 

chairman of the Town of Clinton Planning Board. 

 

b) All appropriate fees have been paid. 

 

Seconded by Mr. DePasqua.   

 

Discussion. None.  

 

All Aye, Motion carried, 5-0. 

 

Mr. Neumann asked the board about the duration of the approvals they just received. Mr. 

McCormack responded that the approval is good for 1 year. The applicant can come back 

before the board to ask for an extension of approval.   

 

APPLICATION 

 

1.  Kondor & Wild lot line adjustment – properties situated at 86 & 102 Allen Road, 

Tax Grid Nos. 6466-00-650210, 6466-00-600240 & 6466-00-630240. 

 

 The applicants propose to adjust the property lines on 3 contiguous parcels 

 located on the east side of Allen Road to satisfy bequeaths of property described 

 in the last will and testament of Barbara Wild.   

 

Steve Miller, land surveyor, was present to represent the above applicants.  

 

Mr. Miller explained the proposition. Ms. Wild owned 2 pieces of parcels on Allen Road.  

One is 51 acre parcel and the other lot is 10 acre parcel. Both parcels have improvements. 

He noted that the larger lot has outbuildings and barns. Third parcel is owned by Mr. and 

Mrs. Kondor. He indicated that Mrs. Kondor is the daughter of the late Ms. Wild.  

 

Before Ms. Wild pass away, she left a will bequeathing parcels to her children. Ms. 

Kondor to inherit 5 acre parcel, the son should have 6 acres and the remainder of the 

parcel is going to be conveyed to Linda Kondor. The resulting parcel will be 5 acre parcel  

(with existing dwelling), 6.2 acre parcel (out buildings and barns) and the remainder of 

51 acres to be combined to the 24 acre parcel currently owned by Mr. & Mrs. Kondor. He 

noted that the purpose of this lot line adjustment is to reconfigure the lot so that the estate 

of Ms. Wild is conveyed to the siblings with appropriate number of acreage.  

 



TOWN OF CLINTON  

PLANNING BOARD MEETING 

FINAL MINUTES 

September 2, 2008 

 6 

Mr. DePasqua asked Mr. Miller for any documentation proving the intention of the late 

Ms. Wild.  

 

The chairman responded that the board only needs letter of authority from the land 

owners.  

 

Mr. Miller indicated that he submitted 2 letters of authorization (one from Mr. & Mrs. 

Kondor and the other one is from the executor of the late Ms. Wild) to Ms. Campbell.  

 

Mr. DePasqua asked the applicant if this is a working farm. The applicant responded not 

to his knowledge. 

 

Mr. DePasqua asked the surveyor if there is another step on this property after doing lot 

line adjustment. Mr. Miller responded that as far as he knows, the owners are doing the 

lot line adjustment in order to straighten out the will of the late Ms. Wild. He noted that 

he is not aware of any future plans about these properties.  

 

Mr. DePasqua acknowledged that the map is a well prepared, easy to read and a good 

map. This is a simple lot line change. He indicated that with new configuration of the 

lots, it will create a much smaller lot than the previous one.  He stated that with all the 

outbuildings on the property, this was probably a working farm in the past.  Mr. Miller 

stated that this wasn’t a working farm in awhile, not unless it was a working farm 20 

years ago. 

 

Mr. DePasqua indicated that for discussion purposes, this lot now has 5 outbuildings 

though the limit is 3. All these homes are within the setback from the road. He discussed 

the issue about the five outbuildings on the property. Mr. DePasqua noted that these are 

all permanent structures and are larger than 120 square feet.  

 

Mr. Marrapodi asked if any of the outbuildings are separate dwelling units. He wanted to 

know if these buildings are creating nonconformance as they were before. Mr. Miller 

responded that only one outbuilding is a separate dwelling unit. The rest are barns and 

sheds. 

 

Mr. Werner discussed the issue about Decker’s lot line change as compared to this 

application. Discussion was made due to the recent determination of the ZEO about lot 

line adjustment on parcels with buildings intruding the lines.   

 

Mr. McCormack noted that the new determination of the ZEO regarding lot line change 

is whether the new lines are creating new nonconformance.  

 

Mr. Miller indicated that the new lines will not create new nonconformance. He noted 

that they actually moved one lot line so that the building locations will not create new 

nonconformance per ZEO’s advice.  

 



TOWN OF CLINTON  

PLANNING BOARD MEETING 

FINAL MINUTES 

September 2, 2008 

 7 

The board agreed that this issue meets the zoning ordinance.  These buildings do not need 

setbacks even though they are too close to the road.  

 

The board had discussion if this lot line change will create new nonconformance, whether 

these lot and buildings need setback variance or not.  

 

Mr. DePasqua noted that he spoke with Mr. Fennel about this issue.  Mr. Fennel indicated 

that this will not create any new nonconformance. It is up to the planning board whether 

this lot needs variance or not. 

 

Mr. DePasqua stated that the key here is – this is no longer a working farm and the lot 

line change will create a much smaller piece of property than it was.  

 

Mr. Dolan asked what other options they have if this is not creating nonconformance. Mr. 

Werner responded that the applicant will then need numerous variances.   

 

Mr. Marrapodi indicated that one option is to ask the applicants to remove some of the 

outbuildings on the property.  Mr. DePasqua stated that the applicant can also change the 

line as another option.  

 

Mr. Dolan asked the board if they need to get more information from the owners about 

their intention on this property.  

 

Mr. DePasqua expressed his concern about seeing segmentations of this property in the 

future. He indicated that being that the applicant’s representative is not aware of any 

future intentions of the applicants, the board will need to look at these applications again 

in the future if ever things change rapidly. The board agreed.  

 

Mr. Miller understands the board’s concern. He asked about the minimum square footage 

of an outbuilding. Mr. DePasqua responded that the minimum square footage of an 

outbuilding is 120.   

 

The chairman noted that in his opinion, the applicants are just trying to settle a will right 

now.  

 

Mr. Werner indicated that this application needs an Ag Data Statement since there is a 

working farm within 200 ft. The board advised the applicant to submit an Ag Data 

Statement. 

 

Mr. DePasqua noted that the board has to put the requirement for an Ag Data Statement 

as a condition to the approval.  

 

The board agreed to do the checklist waiver.  

 



TOWN OF CLINTON  

PLANNING BOARD MEETING 

FINAL MINUTES 

September 2, 2008 

 8 

Mr. DePasqua asked the applicant if there is any easement or deed restriction in any of 

the properties.  The applicant responded negative.  

 

Mr. Marrapodi stated that the map should state that the property is in the Ag District.  

 

Mr. DePasqua indicated that waiver item #4 area map scale should be 800 instead of 400.  

 

The board asked the applicant to submit a formal letter or written request about waiving 

item #4.  

 

After all the reviews have been made, the board passed a resolution.  

 

Mr. DePasqua made a motion that the Town of Clinton Planning Board in accordance 

with its Subdivision and Lot Line Regulations grant a Conditional Lot line Adjustment 

Approval of the lands owned by Michael & Linda Kondor & the Estate of Barbara A. 

Wild located of 86 & 102 Allen Road, Tax Grid Nos. 6466-00-650210, 600240 & 

630324 in the AR 5 Zoning District map provided by Brady & Watson License No. 

49789 dated August 15, 2008.   

 

WHEREAS: 

 

1. The applicants wish to connect Lot 1 (630324 – Estate of Wild) from 51.194 acres 

to 6.180 acres minus 45.014 acres going to Lot 3 (650210) Lot 2 (600240 – Estate 

of Wild) from 9.998 acres to 5.000 acres minus 4.998 acres to Lot 3.  Lot 3 will 

now contain 74.584 acres plus 45.014 acres from Lot 1 and 4.998 acres from Lot 

2 totals 50.012 acres equals 74.584 acres. (see table of areas map dated 8/15/08) 

 

2. Lands are in AR 5 Zoning District. 

 

3. Lands are in the Ag District 

 

4. The property is not in the CEA, Ridgeline or Scenic Historic Overlay. 

 

5. There are no known violations per ZEO. 

 

6. All fees have been paid. 

 

7. Planning Board has declared itself as lead agency and has determined that this is a 

type II action that requires no further action.  Short Form EAF was submitted on 

file. 

 

8. Letter of Authorization is on file. 

 

THEREFORE, the Town of Clinton Planning Board hereby grants Lot Line Adjustment 

approval when the following conditions have been met: 



TOWN OF CLINTON  

PLANNING BOARD MEETING 

FINAL MINUTES 

September 2, 2008 

 9 

 

 (a) Ag Data Statement submitted and circulated. 

 (b) Notes on the map indicating that the property is in the Ag District. 

 (c) Written request of waiver, item #4 (Area Map 1-400 to 1-800). 

 

Seconded by Mr. Werner.  

 

Discussion. None. 

 

All in favor, Aye, Motion carried, 5-0. 

 

 

2. Omega Institute of Hollistic Studies (Amendment of Site Plan Approval) - property 

 located at 150 Lake Drive, Tax Grid No. 6368-00-938723.  

 

Applicant was asking the board to amend the Site Plan Approval dated November 

20, 2007 Re: Construction of a Single On-Site Wastewater Treatment 

Facility.   

 

Robert Backus was back in front of the board to present their case.  

 

Mr. Backus briefly explained the reason why they’re asking for an amendment of Site 

Plan Approval. He indicated the letters received from Morris Associates (dated 

September 2, 2008) and Chazen (letter dated August 29, 2008) about the issue. 

 

It was noted that the applicant received a Conditional Site Plan Approval dated 

November 20, 2007.  Omega Institute applied for a building permit to start the 

construction and building department was prepared to issue a foundation permit.  

However, the applicant has to comply with all the conditions especially conditions #2, 6, 

and 11 (refer to PB resolution 11-20-07).  Per Chazen letter dated August 29, 2007, 

Omega had obtained both Wetland Permit and SPDES permit but not the NYSDEC Final 

Process Approval which might take months to obtain. In view of this, the applicant is 

requesting amendment of the Conditional Site Plan Approval in order for them to move 

forward. Town planner and Sr. Town Engineer Ron Evangelista concurred and have no 

objection with the request per Morris & Associates’ letter dated September 2, 2008.  

 

Mr. Backus noted all the changes on the Approved Site Plan. He also indicated his 

meeting with the town engineer Ron Evangelista, building inspector Emerson Burger and 

Zoning Enforcement Officer Bob Fennel.  

 

The chairman noted that the applicant is basically trying to amend their approval before 

their Final Approval lapsed.   

 



TOWN OF CLINTON  

PLANNING BOARD MEETING 

FINAL MINUTES 

September 2, 2008 

 10 

Mr. Backus presented their wetland and SPDES permits to the board.  He indicated that 

final approval from the NYSDEC is in process. He noted that they are not certain when 

this final approval going to be released.   

 

Mr. McCormack stated that the problem is -- the applicant cannot get a building permit 

‘till he signs the mylar.  The chairman cannot sign it off not unless the DEC release their 

approval   

 

Mr. DePasqua asked if there is any reason why DEC hasn’t signed it off. Mr. 

McCormack responded that there is none that’s why Morris & Associates recommended 

that the board amends the Site Plan Approval. 

 

Mr. Backus stated that they did all the changes that DEC asked them to do.  They’re just 

having a hard time getting the final approval.  

 

Mr. Werner indicated the email received from the town planner stating that he hasn’t seen 

compliance in any of the conditions of the final approval.   

 

Mr. McCormack agreed. He stated that the town planner probably hasn’t seen compliance 

of the conditions because part of the conditions of the final approval is for the town 

planner and the town engineer to say okay to sign before he can sign the Mylar.  The 

applicant hasn’t completed the DEC process that’s why the town planner hasn’t seen any 

compliance yet. The board needs to modify the original resolution. It’s up to the board.  

 

Mr. Backus stated that they are only looking to get a foundation permit.  They are not 

planning to start construction above the slab. 

 

Mr. Werner noted that the board needs to address items 2, 6, & 11 of Morris & 

Associates letter dated September 2, 2008. 

 

Mr. DePasqua commented that there are no modifications to the Site Plan itself.  It is the 

sequence of events that needs to be addressed.  

 

Mr. McCormack indicated that item #6 of Final Approval’s Condition states that “the 

applicant shall obtain all required approvals including Wetland Disturbance and SPDES 

Permit….” He noted that the applicant cannot fulfill the rest of the conditions without the 

DEC approval.  

 

Mr. Werner questioned item #6 –obtaining all required approvals. It’s vague. He wanted 

to know where this item is on the resolution.  

 

The board decided to call Mr. Evangelista to clarify the issue. Mr. Evangelista feels that 

the board still has control over this matter. This amendment will only allow Omega to 

build a portion of the plant building (foundation) but not any construction above the slab 

without the full building permit, until such time they receive the NYSDEC Final 



TOWN OF CLINTON  

PLANNING BOARD MEETING 

FINAL MINUTES 

September 2, 2008 

 11 

approval. He added that if the applicant decided to move forward with this, then the 

applicant is willing to take the risk of his own 

 

Mr. Backus noted that they are willing to take the risk in moving forward with this 

amendment. 

 

The board had discussion on how to modify the approved resolution.  Chairman 

McCormack suggested modifying the approved resolution per Morris & Associates letter 

dated September 2, 2008. The letter is self explanatory. He noted that this amendment 

will give the applicant a chance to move forward which is to build a foundation.  

 

Mr. Werner asked what happens after Omega completed the foundation.  

 

Mr. Marrapodi responded that the applicant has to stop.  They cannot proceed with the 

construction till they get the final approval.  This is the risk they have to take. At least 

they got they got the foundation.  

 

Mr. DePasqua asked if the letter from the town engineer strong enough to support this 

amendment for future issues. He wanted to make sure that this letter will cover 

everything including an understanding that the applicant cannot move forward without a 

DEC approval. Mr. McCormack responded that the applicant will be held for the DEC 

approval. After all the discussions have been made, a resolution has been passed.  

 

Mr. Werner motioned that the Site Plan Resolution dated November 20, 2007 Re: 

Construction of a Single On-Site Wastewater Treatment Facility in the matter of Omega 

Institute of Hollistic Studies, property located at 150 Lake Drive, Tax Grid No. 6368-00-

938723, be amended as per Morris Associates’ letter dated September 2, 2008 (see 

attached) with the following modification: . 

 

In point #1 of the Morris Associates letter, fourth line, “PB Resolution Item #1” should 

be changed to read “PB Resolution Condition #2.” 

 

Be it further resolved, that Conditions #2, #6, and #11 of the original Site Plan Resolution 

(dated November 20, 2007) be conditions of the amended resolution. 

 

Seconded by Mr. Dolan.  

 

Discussion. Mr. Backus asked if this resolution also covers the letter from Chazen (letter 

dated September 2, 2008 - Site Plan Amendments). Mr. McCormack responded positive. 

 

All in favor. Aye. Motion carried 5-0. 

 

 

 

 



TOWN OF CLINTON  

PLANNING BOARD MEETING 

FINAL MINUTES 

September 2, 2008 

 12 

OTHER MATTERS 

 

1.  The chairman asked Ms. Campbell to let the town attorney look at the document 

received by the board about abandonment of subdivision. He wanted to know if 

this is legal under our zoning ordinance. 

 

2. The board had discussion about the proposed wetland law. It was noted that a 

joint meeting was granted by the town board which is on September 4, 2008.  

 

 

 APPROVAL OF MINUTES: 

 

1. Mr. DePasqua motioned to accept the August 19, 2008 minutes as amended. 

 Seconded by Mr. Werner, Discussion, All in favor, motion carried, 5-0. 

 

2. Mr. Dolan moved to accept the amended August 5, 2008 minutes.  Seconded by 

 Mr. DePasqua, all Aye, Motion carried 5-0. 

 

 

 

ADJOURNMENT: 

 

Mr. DePasqua made a motion to adjourn the meeting at 10:30 PM. Mr. Werner    

Seconded, all in favor, Aye, Motion carried, 5-0. 

 

The next Planning Board Meeting is scheduled on September 16, 2008 at 7:30 p.m. 

 

Respectfully Submitted, 

 
Arlene A. Campbell, Clerk 

Planning & Zoning Board of Appeals  

 

Cc: Barbara Joyce, town clerk  


